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compensation, terms, conditions, or 
privileges of employment because the 
employee (or an individual acting at 
the request of the employee), has en-
gaged in any of the activities specified 
in paragraphs (b)(1) through (5) of this 
section. 

(b) An employee is protected against 
retaliation because the employee (or 
an individual acting at the request of 
the employee) has: 

(1) Received a credit under section 
36B of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, 26 U.S.C. 36B, or a subsidy under 
section 1402 of the Affordable Care Act, 
42 U.S.C. 18071; 

(2) Provided, caused to be provided, 
or is about to provide or cause to be 
provided to the employer, the Federal 
Government, or the attorney general of 
a State information relating to any 
violation of, or any act or omission the 
employee reasonably believes to be a 
violation of, any provision of title I of 
the Affordable Care Act (or an amend-
ment made by title I of the Affordable 
Care Act); 

(3) Testified or is about to testify in 
a proceeding concerning such viola-
tion; 

(4) Assisted or participated, or is 
about to assist or participate, in such a 
proceeding; or 

(5) Objected to, or refused to partici-
pate in, any activity, policy, practice, 
or assigned task that the employee (or 
other such person) reasonably believed 
to be in violation of any provision of 
title I of the Affordable Care Act (or 
amendment), or any order, rule, regula-
tion, standard, or ban under title I of 
the Affordable Care Act (or amend-
ment). 

§ 1984.103 Filing of retaliation com-
plaint. 

(a) Who may file. An employee who 
believes that he or she has been retali-
ated against in violation of section 18C 
of the FLSA may file, or have filed by 
any person on the employee’s behalf, a 
complaint alleging such retaliation. 

(b) Nature of filing. No particular 
form of complaint is required. A com-
plaint may be filed orally or in writing. 
Oral complaints will be reduced to 
writing by OSHA. If the complainant is 
unable to file the complaint in English, 

OSHA will accept the complaint in any 
language. 

(c) Place of filing. The complaint 
should be filed with the OSHA office re-
sponsible for enforcement activities in 
the geographical area where the em-
ployee resides or was employed, but 
may be filed with any OSHA officer or 
employee. Addresses and telephone 
numbers for these officials are set forth 
in local directories and at the fol-
lowing Internet address: http:// 
www.osha.gov. 

(d) Time for filing. Within 180 days 
after an alleged violation of section 18C 
of the FLSA occurs, any employee who 
believes that he or she has been retali-
ated against in violation of that sec-
tion may file, or have filed by any per-
son on the employee’s behalf, a com-
plaint alleging such retaliation. The 
date of the postmark, facsimile trans-
mittal, electronic communication 
transmittal, telephone call, hand-deliv-
ery, delivery to a third-party commer-
cial carrier, or in-person filing at an 
OSHA office will be considered the date 
of filing. The time for filing a com-
plaint may be tolled for reasons war-
ranted by applicable case law. 

§ 1984.104 Investigation. 
(a) Upon receipt of a complaint in the 

investigating office, the Assistant Sec-
retary will notify the respondent of the 
filing of the complaint, of the allega-
tions contained in the complaint, and 
of the substance of the evidence sup-
porting the complaint. Such materials 
will be redacted, if necessary, in ac-
cordance with the Privacy Act of 1974, 
5 U.S.C. 552a, and other applicable con-
fidentiality laws. The Assistant Sec-
retary will also notify the respondent 
of its rights under paragraphs (b) and 
(f) of this section and paragraph (e) of 
§ 1984.110. The Assistant Secretary will 
provide an unredacted copy of these 
same materials to the complainant (or 
complainant’s legal counsel if com-
plainant is represented by counsel) and 
to the appropriate office of the Federal 
agency charged with the administra-
tion of the general provisions of the Af-
fordable Care Act under which the 
complaint is filed: Either the Internal 
Revenue Service of the United States 
Department of the Treasury (IRS), the 
United States Department of Health 
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and Human Services (HHS), or the Em-
ployee Benefits Security Administra-
tion of the United States Department 
of Labor (EBSA). 

(b) Within 20 days of receipt of the 
notice of the filing of the complaint 
provided under paragraph (a) of this 
section, the respondent and the com-
plainant each may submit to the As-
sistant Secretary a written statement 
and any affidavits or documents sub-
stantiating its position. Within the 
same 20 days, the respondent and the 
complainant each may request a meet-
ing with the Assistant Secretary to 
present its position. 

(c) Throughout the investigation, the 
Agency will provide to the complainant 
(or the complainant’s legal counsel if 
complainant is represented by counsel) 
a copy of all of respondent’s submis-
sions to the Agency that are responsive 
to the complainant’s whistleblower 
complaint. Before providing such mate-
rials to the complainant, the Agency 
will redact them, if necessary, in ac-
cordance with the Privacy Act of 1974, 
5 U.S.C. 552a, and other applicable con-
fidentiality laws. The Agency will also 
provide the complainant with an oppor-
tunity to respond to such submissions. 

(d) Investigations will be conducted 
in a manner that protects the confiden-
tiality of any person who provides in-
formation on a confidential basis, 
other than the complainant, in accord-
ance with part 70 of this title. 

(e)(1) A complaint will be dismissed 
unless the complainant has made a 
prima facie showing that protected ac-
tivity was a contributing factor in the 
adverse action alleged in the com-
plaint. 

(2) The complaint, supplemented as 
appropriate by interviews of the com-
plainant, must allege the existence of 
facts and evidence to make a prima 
facie showing as follows: 

(i) The employee engaged in a pro-
tected activity; 

(ii) The respondent knew or sus-
pected that the employee engaged in 
the protected activity; 

(iii) The employee suffered an ad-
verse action; and 

(iv) The circumstances were suffi-
cient to raise the inference that the 
protected activity was a contributing 
factor in the adverse action. 

(3) For purposes of determining 
whether to investigate, the complain-
ant will be considered to have met the 
required burden if the complaint on its 
face, supplemented as appropriate 
through interviews of the complainant, 
alleges the existence of facts and either 
direct or circumstantial evidence to 
meet the required showing, i.e., to give 
rise to an inference that the respond-
ent knew or suspected that the em-
ployee engaged in protected activity 
and that the protected activity was a 
contributing factor in the adverse ac-
tion. The burden may be satisfied, for 
example, if the complaint shows that 
the adverse action took place shortly 
after the protected activity, giving rise 
to the inference that it was a contrib-
uting factor in the adverse action. If 
the required showing has not been 
made, the complainant (or the com-
plainant’s legal counsel, if complainant 
is represented by counsel) will be so no-
tified and the investigation will not 
commence. 

(4) Notwithstanding a finding that a 
complainant has made a prima facie 
showing, as required by this section, an 
investigation of the complaint will not 
be conducted or will be discontinued if 
the respondent demonstrates by clear 
and convincing evidence that it would 
have taken the same adverse action in 
the absence of the complainant’s pro-
tected activity. 

(5) If the respondent fails to make a 
timely response or fails to satisfy the 
burden set forth in the prior paragraph, 
the Assistant Secretary will proceed 
with the investigation. The investiga-
tion will proceed whenever it is nec-
essary or appropriate to confirm or 
verify the information provided by the 
respondent. 

(f) Prior to the issuance of findings 
and a preliminary order as provided for 
in § 1984.105, if the Assistant Secretary 
has reasonable cause, on the basis of 
information gathered under the proce-
dures of this part, to believe that the 
respondent has violated section 18C of 
the FLSA and that preliminary rein-
statement is warranted, the Assistant 
Secretary will again contact the re-
spondent (or the respondent’s legal 
counsel if respondent is represented by 
counsel) to give notice of the substance 
of the relevant evidence supporting the 
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complainant’s allegations as developed 
during the course of the investigation. 
This evidence includes any witness 
statements, which will be redacted to 
protect the identity of confidential in-
formants where statements were given 
in confidence; if the statements cannot 
be redacted without revealing the iden-
tity of confidential informants, sum-
maries of their contents will be pro-
vided. The complainant will also re-
ceive a copy of the materials that must 
be provided to the respondent under 
this paragraph. Before providing such 
materials to the complainant, the 
Agency will redact them, if necessary, 
in accordance with the Privacy Act of 
1974, 5 U.S.C. 552a, and other applicable 
confidentiality laws. The respondent 
will be given the opportunity to submit 
a written response, to meet with the 
investigators, to present statements 
from witnesses in support of its posi-
tion, and to present legal and factual 
arguments. The respondent must 
present this evidence within 10 busi-
ness days of the Assistant Secretary’s 
notification pursuant to this para-
graph, or as soon thereafter as the As-
sistant Secretary and the respondent 
can agree, if the interests of justice so 
require. 

§ 1984.105 Issuance of findings and 
preliminary orders. 

(a) After considering all the relevant 
information collected during the inves-
tigation, the Assistant Secretary will 
issue, within 60 days of the filing of the 
complaint, written findings as to 
whether or not there is reasonable 
cause to believe that the respondent 
has retaliated against the complainant 
in violation of section 18C of the FLSA. 

(1) If the Assistant Secretary con-
cludes that there is reasonable cause to 
believe that a violation has occurred, 
the Assistant Secretary will accom-
pany the findings with a preliminary 
order providing relief to the complain-
ant. The preliminary order will re-
quire, where appropriate: Affirmative 
action to abate the violation; rein-
statement of the complainant to his or 
her former position, together with the 
compensation (including back pay and 
interest), terms, conditions and privi-
leges of the complainant’s employ-
ment; and payment of compensatory 

damages, including, at the request of 
the complainant, the aggregate 
amount of all costs and expenses (in-
cluding attorney’s and expert witness 
fees) reasonably incurred. Interest on 
back pay will be calculated using the 
interest rate applicable to under-
payment of taxes under 26 U.S.C. 6621 
and will be compounded daily. 

(2) If the Assistant Secretary con-
cludes that a violation has not oc-
curred, the Assistant Secretary will 
notify the parties of that finding. 

(b) The findings and, where appro-
priate, the preliminary order will be 
sent by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, to all parties of record (and 
each party’s legal counsel if the party 
is represented by counsel). The findings 
and, where appropriate, the prelimi-
nary order will inform the parties of 
the right to object to the findings and/ 
or order and to request a hearing, and 
of the right of the respondent to re-
quest an award of attorney’s fees not 
exceeding $1,000 from the ALJ, regard-
less of whether the respondent has filed 
objections, if respondent alleges that 
the complaint was frivolous or brought 
in bad faith. The findings and, where 
appropriate, the preliminary order also 
will give the address of the Chief Ad-
ministrative Law Judge, U.S. Depart-
ment of Labor. At the same time, the 
Assistant Secretary will file with the 
Chief Administrative Law Judge a copy 
of the original complaint and a copy of 
the findings and/or order. 

(c) The findings and any preliminary 
order will be effective 30 days after re-
ceipt by the respondent (or the re-
spondent’s legal counsel if the respond-
ent is represented by counsel), or on 
the compliance date set forth in the 
preliminary order, whichever is later, 
unless an objection and/or a request for 
hearing has been timely filed as pro-
vided at § 1984.106. However, the portion 
of any preliminary order requiring re-
instatement will be effective imme-
diately upon the respondent’s receipt 
of the findings and the preliminary 
order, regardless of any objections to 
the findings and/or the order. 
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